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The subject of this paper is an example of the
painted Jerusalem proskynetarion in a private
collection in Podgorica, Montenegro (fig. 1)*. This
gives us ability to study this icon separately and
more closely, and to draw attention to some of
the general features of this type of icon. Prosky-
netaria were specific pilgrimage icons that the Or-
thodox pilgrims of the Holy Land used to brought
from their journey. They were painted from the
first half of the 17" to the beginning of the 20®
century, and were made in local Palestinian icon-
painting workshops. They had the central repre-
sentation of the church of Holy Sepulcher in Je-
rusalem in cross-section, as well as the represen-
tations of other sacred places visited by the pil-
grims. According to Christian belief, these were
the very places of the various events described in
the Old and New Testaments as well as in various
apocryphal traditions.

We would like to point out that these icons were
known in both the Romanian and Moldovan ar-
eas, but, as far as we know, they are not closely
examined. In the article of the Russian philologist
Jacimirskij a large number of them was told to be
seen in the churches and monasteries of Chisinau
and its surroundings?. He also attested one of the
of the oldest icons of this kind in the church of the
village Buciumeni (SIriumupckiit 1902, 140-142).

The proskynetarion in question is a dimensions
of 172x90 c¢m, and it was painted with tempera

We want to express our gratitude to the owner of the icon,
collector Novica Jovovi¢ from Podgorica (Montenegro), on
the permission to publish the proskynetarion. Also, we were
able to examine the icon during May 2016, while it was still
in Belgrade. The photos published here are made by Relja
Mirkovié.
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on a canvas. The painted layer is very well pre-
served, although in many places it can be noticed
that the color in small pieces has fallen off. The
inscriptions on the icon are Greek. It is dated
on the basis of three inscriptions. Below the fig-
ure of Christ Elkomenos on the right side of the
icon there is a cartouche with the inscription in
gold letters X: ITPOCKYNITHC TOY
ITANATIOY Ke ZGOOAOXOY* TA®OY: 1819 (fig.
2). On the back of the icon there are two inscrip-
tions in decorative cartouches. In a larger one,
there is inscription X ITETPE CAPKOYAH"1819,
in red letters, while in a smaller one we read the
Serbian inscription XAIIU IIETPH @ TUPOTH
1818, in black color (fig. 3). The name of the pil-
grim was omitted on the front, while it was given
on the background. It was Hadzi-Petar from Pirot,
a city in southern Serbia. Tirot was obviously
wrongly listed Serbian name of the city of Pirot,
while Sarkuli was wrongly listed Turkish name
for the same city, the proper form was Sehirkdy.
The years 1818 and 1819 in two cartouches indi-
cate that Hadji-Petar probably was on pilgrimge
for two years3. That, by all means, leads to the
conclusion that the icon, in fact, should be dated
to 1818. The inscriptions on the front and back
were common elements of the painted prosky-
netaria of Jerusalem. The one on the front was a
standard formulation that can be found on a se-
ries of other icons, where the name of the pilgrim
and the year when the pilgrimage was made was
added to the already written inscription. This in-
scription is usually separated into a separate field
or cartouche. The name, as was the case here, can
be omitted. The labels on the backside were very
common but not obligatory. They brought the
name of the pilgrim, usually the year of the pil-
grimage, and they were mostly placed in a decora-
tive cartouche. It was most commonly, as in this
example, decorated with small representations of
a cross, spear and cane with sponge.

3 The pilgrims usually stayed on their journey for one year,
but it was not uncommon to stay longer.
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Fig. 1. Painted proskynetarion of Jerusalem, 1818/1819.

The composition of the icon was in the form of
an elongated, laid rectangle with a clear three-
part composition, resembling a large triptych.
The central part was occupied by the representa-
tion of the church of Holy Sepulcher in Jerusalem
in a cross-section, surrounded by other smaller
scenes. Above this representation there was the
representation of the Last Judgement. Bellow the
representation of the church of Holy Sepulcher
there were the cycle of the Tree of the Holy Cross
and the one of St. Mary of the Egypt. On the sides
of the representation of the Church there were
representations dedicated to the Virgin Mary on
the left, and to the Christ on the right. Left and
right sides were fully symmetrically organized
and functioned as pair. On the left side the main
one was the representation of the miraculous icon
of the Virgin Eleousa tou Kykkou, and on the right
side the representation of the Christ Elkomenos.
These representations, with some secondary
scenes, were both, in the same way, surrounded
by a frame of 24 medallions.

Colorism was based on the contrast of clear blue
and strong orange-red color, harmonized by us-
ing of the gold on ornaments and some other
parts. Red-orange, usually filled with golden or-
nament, was reserved for frames on the left and
right wing of the icon. The blue color was mainly
on the backgrounds of the representations. It ex-
isted in two tones: predominating bright heaven-
ly-blue, as well as darker, more closed and festive.

236

Rarely, the background could be orange-red. In
light blue and orange- red backgrounds the in-
scriptions were black, while those on dark-blue
backgrounds were golden. Gold, as a traditional
element of the icon-painting, was widely used.
Ornaments, inscriptions, frames, garments on
clothes of the most important representations,
certain parts of architecture, all were made with
gold. Of the other colors, there were only a few —
green, brown, dark red, pink and yellow. Human
figures were in some way schematized and with
no excessive sense of proportion and anatomy,
although they were painted with great care. They
stood out in high contrast to the background of
individual scenes, whose design is meaningful,
organic and convincing. The landscape was paint-
ed with ochre, green and brown color+. Trees and
plants were secondary element in the landscape,
as well as the representations of the architecture.
They were painted in white, with red rooftops
and golden domes. Windows and doors were only
marked by few lines. Stone squares in the walls
can be represented by series of upright and hori-
zontal lines.

Quite separate entity with characteristics of its
own was the representation of the church of the
Holy Sepulcher (fig. 4). Since it was the sacred

4 In the background of certain scenes between the ground and
the sky is a horizontal strip of orange color.
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place of the whole Christendom5 and the main
goal of the pilgrimage journey, its representa-
tion was absolutely central in relation to other
parts of the icon. The complex composition was
placed in a clearly visible golden frame. The rep-
resentation of the church of Holy Sepulcher was
not given by rules of architectural drawing, but
it was concentrated on smaller parts and details
given in separate plans. These subcategories and
details framed the central sacred places in the
church, those that were the main goal of the pil-
grimage. When these separated plans were seen
as a larger whole, they form a unique mental pic-
ture of the church and pilgrimages to the sacred
places that it encompasses. It was underlined by
the golden frame surrounding the representation
of the church.

Individual sacred places were everywhere marked
by representations of numerous lamps and can-
dlesticks. They filled arcades, spaces between col-
umns, windows and doors. This characteristic of
this proskynetarion, as well as of all other ones,
was the real feature of the church of the Hoily
Sepulcher. In it, every sacred place was marked
by a large number of lamps and candlesticks.
Their number was carefully divided between in-
dividual churches that have the right to use the
Holy Sepulcher Church®. Also, in the pilgrimage
guides that were written in the period between
16th and 19th centuries, the number of lamps
and candlesticks in a certain places was always
pointed out. Lamps and candlesticks were con-
crete material and ritual evidence of respecting a
particular place as a sacred one.

It is important to point out that this represen-
tation of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher was
painted on the icon dated in the years 1818-1819.
This largely determined its appearance. In the au-
tumn of 1808, the church of the Holy Sepulcher in
Jerusalem suffered one of the greatest fires in its
history. A large part of the church was destroyed.
The reparations was done by the Greek Patriarch-
ate of Jerusalem, which in the beginning of 1809
succeeded in securing the sultan’s ferman for the
repair of the church (Mntpomoviog 2009). The
works, led by architect Kalfa Komnin, were com-
pleted in autumn 1810. They gave the church a
completely new look, which was in detail and in

5 About the structure and history of The Church of the Holy
Sepulcher: Pringle 2007, 6-72, no. 283.

¢ The Jerusalem Patriarchate has even special monks in char-
ge of the care of its candles.

Fig. 3. Inscriptions from
1818 and 1819 in car-
touches on backside.

Fig. 4. The Church of the Holy Sepulcher in Jerusalem.
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whole transmitted to proskynetaria painted after
that year. The political situation in the Christian
countries at the time, due to the Napoleonic wars,
was favorable for the Greek Patriarchate of Jeru-
salem to do these reparations.

At the representation of the church, the exterior
and interior architectural parts were blended,
with clear domination of the inner ones. The exte-
rior ones were most recognizable: portal and two
monumental domes. Apart from the domes, there
were two smaller details that refer to buildings
that are not part of the Church of the Holy Sepul-
cher in strict terms, but were located immediately
next to it. Their symbolic significance required
them to be represented. Between the domes of
Rothonda and Catholicon, in a separate golden
frame, St. Constantine and Helene — kovgavtnvag
& elevi. This representation marked the church
dedicated to these saints, which was located in
the complex of the Patriarchate, just west of the
church of the Holy Sepulcher. At the same time,
they were the first builders of the church, so their
representation is also logical in this respect. On
the ultimately right side was Avraham’s sacrifice
— H ©ICIA TOY ABPAAM. The scene represented
a place where, according to the belief, this event
took place, and in which place there was the mon-
astery of St. Prophet Abraham.

In the lower right corner was the recognizable
double portal of the Holy Sepulcher. The right
part of the portal was walled, while only one wing
of the door was open on its left. The rest of the
space was occupied by representation of the cer-
emonial coming of the patriarch of Jerusalem in
the church. The Patriarch of Jerusalem was wel-
comed by two deacons with censers, immediately
next to the Stone of Unction. This scene had the
role of a visual introduction to the inner space
of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher. After pass-
ing through the portal, the Stone of Unction was
the first holy place met by a pilgrim. The stone,
marked EITIKATHAOCH, was represented in
red’.

Left side of the representation of the Church of
the Holy Sepulcher was taken by representation
of the Rothonda. That was the part of the church
with the sepulcher of Christ itself. At the top of it
the dome of the Rothonda was represented, what

7 Tt is believed that Joseph and Nicodemus laid a dead Christ
on it and, according to the Jewish custom, anointed him
with fragrant oils, before wrapping Him in a burial mantle.
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it looked like after its restoration. Lead plates
covering the dome were represented, as also was
an opening with a railings. It was marked with
inscription TO ATI®N KOYBOYKAI®N. Below
dome the interior of Rothonda was represented.
The inner side of the dome in the middle had an
opening, around which were distributed indi-
vidual segments. Below was a colonnade of pi-
lasters connected by arches. Detailes of the 1809
restoration — decorative ornaments in the dome,
and the small round windows in the lower parts
of the pilasters, were meticoulosly represented.
In the middle of Rotonde was a smaller church —
the Kubouklion of Sepulcher of Christ. That was
the very grave believed to be the one in which the
body of dead Christ was laid and where he resur-
rected. Here was also the stone on which the an-
gel appeared to the Myrhbearers. This place of the
utmost sacredness to all Christendom was repre-
sented mainly in red color, way it looked like after
1809-1810 reparations. The resurrected Christ
was represented above the Kubouklion, in a red
mandolla with radial golden rays, surrounded
by clouds. He was marked H ANAXTACHC TOY
XPIZTOY.

To the right of the Rotonda the Catholicon
was represented, that is the Cathedral Church
of the Resurrection. Inscription TO ATIG®N
KATOAHKON. signified the dome of the Ca-
tholicon. It was represented in a light color, and
around it a wavy line goes. That was a staircase
that once spirally twisted around the outside
body of the dome. Below the dome of the Catholi-
con two narrow fields were represented. In the
left-hand one, the unusual scene was marked O
ATTOC ITETPOC. A patriarch with two candles lit
in his hands was carried by a man on his shoul-
ders. There were two people on the side, giving
their hands to them. The Jerusalem ritual of the
miraculous Holy Fire — or Nur — on Great Satur-
day wa represented in this way. The patriarch, af-
ter receiving the Holy Fire in ther Tomb of Christ,
was carried on their shoulders by the men from
the gathered congregation from Tomb to Catholi-
con. Since the Rothonda and Katholikon are con-
nected by a high vault, in this left-hand, narrower
fild we should see exactly this vault as represent-
ed. The next, right-hand field below the dome
represented the interior of the Katholikon. In the
lowest part, the so-called Trikamaron — entrance
part made up of three arches on the pillars was
represented. Above the arches is a balustrade,
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and between the side columns are stone barri-
ers. Through the central arch there is a view of
the stone vase located in the middle of the Katho-
likon, which was believed to be mark of the center
of the world. Above the Trikamaron, the iconos-
tasis of Catholicon was represented: pillars and
arches as a series of icons, and a gable at the top.
These were approximate representations of the
appearance of Trikamaron and the iconostasis,
built in the rebuilding of 1810. A large chandelier
was represented, hanging from the vault above.

In the final right field, Golgotha, the place of
Christ’s Crucifixion, was represented. The main
representation in this part was Christ on the cross
with the Virgin on the left and St. John the Evan-
gelist on the right. The Crucifixion with Mother
of God and the favorite disciple of Christ pointed
out to the great Crucifixon in natural size that is
on Golgotha itself®. Below the Crucifixion is a red
oltar trapeza. Below it is the golden circle that
marked the place on which the cross of Christ
was put. Architectural changes that took place in
1809-1810 renovation were represented below
Crucifixion: a gray wall with stairways and arch-
es, these being painted in red.

The representation of the Church of the Holy Sep-
ulcher as a whole reveals the outstanding empha-
sis on the architectural details that were realized
in the 1809-1810 renovation. The use of the red
color for their representation was emphasized,
thus drawing attention to their real color. It is a
consequence of the use of the stone in that color
as a material in construction work®. Other details
were clearly and unequivocally presented: the
dome of the Rothonda, the Kubouklion of Sep-
ulcher of Christ, Katholikon, both floors of the
Golgotha, and the Stone of Unction. These details
highlighted the new appearance of the Church of
the Holy Sepulcher, that was merely the merit of
the Jerusalem Patriarchate. Some religious cere-
monies attended by the pilgrims were also repre-
sented: the coming of the Patriarch in the Church

8 About the date of the creation of the great Crucifixion with
the Virgin and St. John on Golgotha we could not find any
concrete information. It was probably created during or
immediately after Comnin’s rebuilding.

9 Komnin carried out the renovation with one local Palesti-
nian type of pale red stone (so-called malaky), which can
be found in large numbers in the vicinity of Jerusalem. It
is easy to be punch so that it gives the impression of the
marble. This is most noticeable on Kubouklion itself, but
also in some other parts. So, the red color that we see so
much used to represent The Church of the Holy Sepulcher
should be viewed as a realistic detail.

and the Great Saturday. We also have to mention
the numerous lamps and candlesticks, on whose
representation was persistently insisted. They re-
flected a specific atmosphere inside the church of
the Holy Sepulcher, where every sacred place was
marked with lamps and candlesticks. The number
of sacred places that are displayed was reduced
to the most basic ones. This created an easily un-
derstandable and memorable microarchitectural
pictogram. which was easily reminiscent for the
pilgrims. For those who were preparing for the
pilgrimage these representations easily could be
a kind of tutorial on what they will see and gave
them basic visual points of reference in the area of
the Church of the Holy Sepulcher.

Around the Church of the Holy Sepulcher, other
iconographic units were arranged in several hori-
zontal and vertical zones. In the highest zone
were mixed representations of the Creation and
the Last Judgement, while in the lowest were the
cycles of the Tree of the Holy Cross and of the St.
Mary of the Egypt.

At the top is the representation of the Last Judge-
ment. It was simplified in a completely conven-
tional iconography. The most interesting is the
Deisis with Holy Trinity. In the lower part of the
representationof the Last Judgment is the usual
iconography: Paradise (H ITAPAAHCO) in the
form of a fortress, Just Measures, and the River of
Fire that leads into Ad (IKOAACH). By local, but
wider, widespread belief, the Last Judgment will
take place in Jerusalem. Christ will descend from
heaven to the same place from which he ascended
to the Heavens, that is the Mount Eleona east of
the city of Jerusalem. Even the River of Fire was
said that will run from the Valley of Josaphat east
of the Jerusalem, carrying the sinners to the Hell,
placed exactly in the Dead Sea. Hence there was
the logical involvement of the Last Judgement in
the composition of proskynetarion.

The vertical series of scenes to the left of the
church of Holy Sepulcher was begun by the rep-
resentation of the Transfiguration of Christ, H
METAM®P®OCHC TOY COTIPOC. The place
where this sacred event took place was pointed
out, that is Mount Tabor in northern Palestine.
There follows The Stoning of St. Stephan, TOY
APXIATAKONOY XTE®ANOQY. The event was
believed to happened right next to the northern
side of the walls of Jerusalem, at the one of the
gates that leads to Eleona. This gate was there
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Fig. 5. Temptation of Christ; Baptism of Christ;
Monastery of St. Sabbas the Sanctified.

fore given the name of St. Stephen. Below is St.
George, OATTOC TE®PTIIOC, and at the bot-
tom is The Massacre of the Children of Betlehem:
HBPE®OKTONIA.

The vertical series of representations to the right
of the Church of Christ’s grave is symmetrical in
relation to those of the left. It begins with two
scenes, Temptation of Christ and The Baptism of
Christ (fig. 5). In the first CAPANAAPI®N OPOC,
Christ stands on the top of a hill, while one black
devil falls beneath him from the hill. The second
scene, IPAANH, Baptism, showed the place of
Christ’s baptism in Jordan. This place was of spe-
cial significance, because the pilgrims came here
in a large parade and bathed in the river. They did
this in a specially prepared shirt and veil, which
they then preserved to be buried in them. Also,
it was customary to take water from Jordan ex-
actly from this place. Below the monastery of St.
Sabbas the Sanctified, OATIOC CABAC :~ was
represented (fig. 5). The whole monastery, one
of the favorite pilgrims’ destinations, was paint-
ed, located on steep cliffs, with defensive walls, a
church, a tomb of St. Sabbas, its miraculous palm,
buildings, towers to which stairs lead, and once
again a small tower outside the walls. The saint
was portrayed as standing in the monastery and
blessing with his right hand. The St. Demetrios, O
ATTOC AHMITPIOC, Judas (hanged on the tree),
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IOYAAC, and the Assumption of St. the prophet
Elijah, ANABACHC IAIOY TOY IIPO®ITOY,
were represented further bellow.

A section below the church of The Holy Sepul-
cher was taken by a long horizontal field. In the
extreme left of this field was the representation of
the city of Jafa, IA®A. The city is on the sea coast,
with a ship at sea. At the bottom the prophet Jo-
nah was represented, IONA [N], who is thrown
out from the deck. Jafa was the port where the
pilgrims came to Palestine first, while it was also
believed that story Jonah happened in this city.
On the right several scenes that represent the
apocryphal legend of the Tree of the Holy Cross
were represented (fig. 6). This was the legend
about the tree, from which a cross on which Jesus
Christ was crucified, was made. This legend was
related to the Monastery of the Holy Cross west
of the Jerusalem, since the church of this monas-
tery was in a place where that tree was believed
to have grown. To the far right in this field The
Baruch that slept for 72 years was represented (O
BAPOYX 72). This was an apocryphal tradition
about the Old Testament Baruch: he was sent to
gather figs, but he lay in one cave and fell asleep.
He was sleeping in God’s favor for 72 years and
overslept the destruction of Jerusalem and the
Babylonian captivity. He waked up after the re-
turn of the Jewish people to Jerusalem. There is
cavern near walls of Jerusalem, and the monas-
tery of the Holy cross, that was believed to be the
one in which the Baruch was sleeping.

The aforementioned legend of The Tree of the
Holy Cross (fig. 6) was composed out of the fol-
lowing scenes: the first one is Avraam giving Loth
three parts of the wood from fire, O ABPAAM
EAOXZE TPHC AABAOYC TO AOT. It follows the
Loth that waters the Tree, but the scene was not
marked with an inscription. The Monastery of
the Holy Cross was incorporated into it, in which
the three-partite Tree that Lot waters was repre-
sented. The monastery was marked pavagipt tov
cavpov. Following this scene, there is the Devil
drinks water from Loth, O ATABOAOC IIINI Tw
NEPO AIIO TO AwT. The unity was concluded by
scene Solomon orders the cutting of the Tree, O
YOAOM®N ITPOCTAZH TN EIA®N TOY
YTAYPOY, and Workers who carry the Tree,
which were not marked. This legend was tell to
the pilgrims when visiting the monastery: the Old
Testament Loth, having sinned with her daugh-
ters after the flight from Sodom, felt the remorse
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Fig. 6. Cycle of The Tree of the Holy Cross.

he confessed to Abraham. Abraham had to punish
Loth for sin, and gave him three pieces of wood
from the fire. Loth was obliged to plant these
pieces a half-day walk from the Jordan River. He
had to water them every day until they grow out.
Lot did so. But while Lot was carrying water on
the donkey from Jordan to the place where he
planted the pieces, the devil was constantly ap-
pearing in various embodiments. The devil con-
stantly reduced the quantity of water Loth was
carrying, asking Lot to give him drink. Despite
this disturbance, Lot remained very persistent.
The pieces growth as a composite tree, composed
of three different trees: pine, fir and cedar. Many
centuries later, Emperor Solomon ordered that
this tree should be cut down, because there was
need for materials for the Temple that. However,
the piece of wood that was made this way did not
fit anywhere in the building, so the masters throw
it away. At the time of the Passion of Christ’s Suf-
fering, this piece was found and used to make a
cross on which Jesus Christ was crucified. This
cycle was characteristic almost exclusively for
proskynetaria and, as a rule, was their obligatory
element (Kati¢ 2016).

Scenes dedicated to Creation at the top of the
proskynetarion were visually emphasized by be-
ing presented in very decorative gold baroque
cartouches. The first scene to the left is Creation
of the day and the night, EITI ICEN O ®©EO¢ THN
IMEPAN ..... vixBa. God the Father spreaded his
hands, and below it were two separate surfaces,
blue and dark red. On the latter, stars, Sun and
Moon were presented (fig. 7). In this and all other
scenes of the cycle God the Father was identically
represented. He was in the red segment of the sky
surrounded by clouds, from which the golden rays
emerged. God was in a golden tunic, with white
beard and hair, and with a triangular golden halo
with the letters OGN. Next scene was marked as
Creation of Adam, H ITAACHC TOY AAAM, al-

Fig. 7. God separates day and night.

though The Creation of Eve was represented. The
third scene in the series was marked EITAPAN
ITAE. Adam and Eve kneeled naked in front of the
God, who gave them orders. After being interrupt-
ed by Last Judgement, the cycle is continued by
the representation of the Original Sin, AAAM I..A
I'PO T'OYN. Adam and Eve are represented at the
sides of the Tree the Knowledge of Good and Evil.
A snake was represented on the Tree. The right
scene is God is looking for Adam and Eve, AAAM
AAAM TIOYI. The golden ray comes out of the
mouth of God, while Adam and Eve are hiding in
the lower register. The last scene of the cycle is the
Expulsion from Paradise, EEOPIA. Adam and Eve,
wrapped around the thights, look back to Paradise,
presented in the form of a wall with doors, while
above them is an angel with a fiery sword. The
main feature of this whole is the anthropomorphic
representation of God the Father — Sabaoth. The
cycle was reduced to the most basic elements. In
addition to the belief that God created Adam in the
Holy Land, and that Paradise was located some-
where in the East, one should also count on the di-
dactic moment of these representations.
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Fig. 9. Icon Eleosua tou Kykkou.

In the lowest zone the cycle of St. Mary of Egypt
was represented. The scenes were arranged in
golden baroque cartouches identical to those with
the representations of the Creation. In the first
scene Maria, in a red dress, was represented with
a sailors on the boat. This scene was incorporated
into the representation of the ship in front of Yafo
in the upper row. The inscription is I OCIA MAPIA
HC TO KAPABI. In the lowest zone of this first
scene, The Angel does not allow Mary to enter the
Temple, OANTEAOQOg. In the next one, Mary prays
to the icon of the Virgin, giving her an oath, HC
THv(.?) @EOTOKOY (fig. 8). The next scene was
Death of St. Mary of Egypt, with wrong inscrip-
tion H KYMICH¢g THg @EOTOKOY: the deceased
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Mary was represented lying at the lion. This scene
was mistakenly placed ahead of the next, Zosima
giving Communion Maria, I METAAABE. The
old man Zosima gives the Communion to Mary,
dressed in a robe that he gave to her.

The remaining cartouches in the lowest zone in-
cluded representations that do not belong to the
cycle St. Mary of the Egypt. In them the Tree Holy
Hierarchs and Beheading of St. John the Baptist
were represented. Three Hierarchs were in sepa-
rated cartouches: St. Basil the Great, OAT'TO¢
BACIAIOg:, St. John the Chrisostomos, OAT'TOg
I&® XPICOXTOMOg, as well as St. Gregorios,
OATI'TOg I'PITOPIOg. In the last cartouche were
Beheading of St. John the Baptist, I ATTOTOMI
TOY ITPOAPOMOY. The soldier cuts off the head
of St. John, while Salome is waiting on the side to
receive it on the tray*°.

On the left part of the icon central is the half-
length performance of the Virgin with Christ on
his left hand (Fig. 9), in a very complex position
(MHP ©0Y; IC XC). The Virgin was represented
as having long light scarf and a crown over the
maforion. Small Christ was represented in a short
golden tunic, holding a developed scroll in his right
hand. The left hand was stretched out through
the Virgin’s head covering. The iconographic ver-
sion of this representation and the inscription I
EAEOYCA TOY KYKOY leave no doubt that the
icon-painter was referring to Eleusa tou Kykko,
the miraculous icon of the Kykko Monastery in
Cyprus, also known as Kykkotisa®. It should be
emphasized here that the icon of the Virgin with
Christ was represented, that is the Kykkotisa mi-
raculous icon. Replicas of miraculous icons have
had according to old beliefs, a part of the miracu-
lous power of the original, so this representation
should also be observed in that way.

The figure of the Virgin with Christ was placed in
a wreath with twelve small roundels with repre-
sentations of the Old testament Prophets. This
wreath with prophets grows out as a tree out of
the lying figure of Jesse represented below. From

1o Beheading of St. John the Baptist, according to the old beli-
ef, happened at the site of the mosque in the city of Sebaste
in northern Palestine.

1 This was miraculous icon of the Virgin from the Kykko
monastery in Cyprus, which was believed to be the one of
tree painted by the Holy Apostle Luke, and blessed by the
Mother of God. This icon is covered with a cover that is
never removed, so virtually no one has even seen the icon,
even members of the monastery clerk. About iconography
and theological symbolism of the icon: Weyl-Carr 2004.
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the spaces between the prophets grow red and
white roses with leaves. One rose of slightly larg-
er dimensions is just below the figure of Virgin.
These details — the ancient ancestor Jesse from
which the tree grows, the prophets, the prominent
role of the rose flowers — leads to the conclusion
that this is an iconographic amalgam of several
themes. The Tree of the Jesse, the Prophets, and
The Never-fading Rose were assembled with the
Eleousa tou Kykko into one whole. In this way,
the thematic and hymnographic celebration of El-
eousa tou Kykko was clearly underlined.

Above Eleousa tou Kykko with the Prophets there
were more representations related to the Virgin.
The first of them is Mount Athos, (ATIGN OPOg).
Monasteries were represented schematically on
the slopes. At the bottom the sea with ships and
fishes, and at the top icon of Virgin with Christ all
were represented. Athos, it should be noted, was
dedicated to the Virgin, carrying the epithet “The
Garden of the Virgin”. The next representation
was Virgin the Life-giving Font, H ZOG®AOXOY
ITITH. This theme was based on a cult connected
to the church of the same name with the source
of miraculous water in Constantinople. Both rep-
resentations, the Holy Mountain of Athos and
the Life-giving Font are based on numerous cop-
perplates engravings on these subjects (Papas-
tratos 1990, 172-182, 385-402). Below the Athos
Assumption of the Virgin was represented, H
KYMICHC THg @EG@TOKOY. The scene primar-
ily refered to the underground church of the Sep-
ulcher of Virgin in Gethsemane, near the walls of
Jerusalem. However, it could also point to a spe-
cial way Assumption of the Virgin was celebrated
in Jerusalem®.

All these above described representations dedi-
cated to the Virgin were surrounded by the red
frame with 24 scenes of Akathistos in small
roundels. In this ritual hymn, the initial letters
of alternate Oikos and Kontakion together form
acrostich of 24 letters of the Greek alphabet.
Scenes of Akathistos are marked such way here,
from a to w. The first 12 Oikos and Kondakions
were in some way descriptions of events relat-
ed to the birth of Christ, and therefore some of

2 The main characteristic of this holiday in Jerusalem is the
procession during which the plastanica of the Virgin Mary
through the city takes place. The ritual represents of the sta-
ge with the Holy Mother of God by the apostles of Zion in
Gethsemane. About the ritual of ImutpieBckuii s. a., 155-
171.

Fig. 10. Oikos A, Annunciation at the well in Nazareth.

them can be viewed topographicallys. Oikos A
represents apocryphal Annunciation at the well
in Nazareth (fig. 10); Kontakion B and Oikos I'
represented Biblical Annunciation in a house in
Nazareth. Oikos E represented the meeting of the
Virgin Mary and the Elisabeth in Orini, west of
Jerusalem, while Oikos H represented the Birth
of Christ in Bethlehem. Oikos A depicted The Es-
cape of the Holy Family in Egypt. Kondakion M
represented Candlemas and therefore the Jew-
ish Temple of Jerusalem. Complex iconographic
connection of Eleousa tou Kykkou and The Never
Fading Rose with the Prophets and Jesse, then
the other themes — Holy Mountain of Atos and
The Life-giving Font — were connected in one
unity by Akathistos. During the Great Lent, a spe-
cial day was dedicated to Akathistos —Saturday
of Akathistos. On this day Akathistos was sung in
front of the icon of the Virgin. Particularly it could
be sung in front of the icons believed to be mi-
raculous, which therefore makes its purpose here
quite clear. Akathistos emphasized the liturgical
celebration of the icon of the Eleousa tou Kykkou.
The question why the Eleousa tou Kykkou was
painted on proskynetaria is complex. This icon
was represented in a whole series of other prosky-
netaria, and it can be concluded that at this time
it was highly respected in Jerusalem. We should
add that iconography of the Akathistos here was
surprisingly similar to that on the icon from the
Church of St. Constantine and Helene in Jerusa-
lem Patriarchate, painted in 1758 (Xat{nSakng

1987, 234).

3 In the remaining half, there were dogmatic teachings rela-
ted to the Virgin, the Holy Trinity, Christ, and so on.

243



II. Materiale si cercetari

Fig. 12. Holy mountain of Sinai.

The right wing of the icon was dedicated to Christ.
The central position in this part was taken by the
full-lenght representation of Christ in a long red
robe decorated with golden stripes with pearls,
His hands bounded in front, and with crown
of thorns (fig. 11). On each side of the figure of
Christ one candlestick was represented, while
eight lamps was hung over His head. Besides Him
Virgin on the left and St. John the Evangelist on
the right were painted, both holding the wipes in
their hands and crying. Above the head of Christ
is a longer inscription O EAKOMENOC EIII
YTAYPOY. The described composition was sur-
rounded by baroque ornaments which are placed
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in an octagonal field, leaving free spaces in the
corners. In them, on the red background, are rep-
resented beings symbolically depicting the four
writers of the Gospels: angel, winged lion, winged
bull, and eagle. In a separate cartouche at the bot-
tom is pilgrimage inscription.

The inscription O EAKOMENOC EIII XTAYPOY,
a quote from the Lenten Triodion, is to be seen
as an explanation of the whole scene. Its meaning
is about “The one who is led to the Cross”. Christ
was represented on the way to Golgotha, were,
according to the apocryphal sources, he met the
Virgin and St. John the Evangelist. The red tunic
represented the tunic which Pilate soldiers force-
fully put on him for mockery (Jn 19, 1-3). This
iconographic type of Christ was characteristic of
post-Byzantine art. The purpose of the icons of
this type in the Greek Church was connected with
the first three days of the Passion Week. Such rep-
resentations on proskynetaria were quite com-
mon, beside being very striking. Obviously, there
was a common iconographic anthivolon for these
representations. In the 18th century on the Gol-
gotha was the icon of Christ led to Passion, which
was evidently reproduced on proskynetaria cre-
ated before the 1808 fire (Katuu 2017, 312). This
representation of Christ was also painted on the
proskynetaria created after that fire, which is
also the one we are studying here, also with the
lamps and candlesticks that were represented.
As we saw in the representation of The Church
of the Holy Sepulcher, the lamps were common
sign for a respected holy place, which leads to the
conclusion that on Golgotha after 1808 fire there
also was an icon of Christ led to Passion. In 1809,
icon-painter Demetrios son of Isak painted the
icon of Christ Elkomenos and two separate panels
with the Passion scenes, most likely as a replace-
ment of the icon that was destroyed in 1808 fire
(Ophavbov 1956, 253-254). Hence, Christ Elko-
menos on proskynetarion we are studying here
can be considered to be the reproduction of 1809
Demetrios work.

Above the Christ Elkomenos there were three
smaller scenes represented. On Holy Mountain
of Sinai, CINA OPOcg (fig. 12) in the lower left is
the Sinai monastery as a fortress. Just above the
monastery is a pillar with a Golden Calf. From the
monastery stairs lead to the top of Sinai, where
Moses (MOICHC) received two tables with 10 Di-
vine commandments. To the right of the monas-
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tery is the representation of St. Catherine, while
above the same saint was represented, her body
lying on the on of the top of Sinaj. This described
representation of Holy Mountain of Sinai was
created according to the copperplate engravings,
as well as Athos and the Life-giving Font above
the Virgin (Papastratos 1990, 337-385). Under
the Sinai, the martyrdom of the prophet Isaiah
was represented (OITPO®ITHg ICAIAC :~). To
the left of the Sinai the First Ecumenical Coun-
cil (H TTPOTH CHNOAOC) was represented. In
the upper part, St. Emperor Constantine on the
throne under the canopy talks to two bishops. In
the lower part St. Nicholas and St. Spiridon are
debating with two heretics.

Medallions with scenes of the Miracles and Pas-
sion of Christ make up the frame of the right
field, and the scenes begin in the upper left cor-
ner and go to the right. The first is the Marriage
at Cana (O TAMOC), the first miracle performed
by Christ. The second scene was Tiberias Sea
(THBEPIAAOC TAAACA). The third one was
Feedeing the multitude (ITENAE APTOYC), and
the fourth one The Resurrection of the Four-day
Lazarus (TOY AAZAPQOY). The event took place in
Vitania, a place east of Jerusalem, where pilgrims
traveled to the cave where Lazarus was buried. To
the right was a medallion with the representation
of The Entry into Jerusalem (H BATTO®OPOC).
These two representations were related to Laza-
rus’ Saturday and The Flowery Sunday. Below
were medallions with representations of The Last
supper (O AIIINOC), Washing of the Feet (H
NIIITHPA), Prayer in the Garden (H ITPOC[_]
XH), Betrayal of Juda (H ITPOAOCIA), Christ
before Pilate (O IIIAATOC), Peter’s denuncia-
tion (O ITETPOC), Scouring (H MACTIT'OCHC),
Crown of Thorns (O AKANTINOC XTE®ANOC).
At the bottom were the representations of Christ
under the cross (I®OPTwCHC), Nailing to the
Cross (HKAP®OCIC:), Removing from the Cross
(H KATeBACHC), and Mourning of Christ (O
EITITA®IOC OPINOC). Representations of the
Passion of Christ can be undoubtedly connected
with the places believed to being the very places
of their happening. Also, the services during the
Great Week during which these events were men-
tioned was pointed out. The remaining represen-
tations were the representations of the Sundays of
Flowery Triodion: Sunday of Tomas (O @ wMAC),
Sunday of Myrh-bearers (MIPO®OPH), Sunday
of the Paralytic (ITAPAAITOC), Sunday of the

Fig. 13. Ascension of Christ.

Samaritan Woman (CAMAPIA), Sunday of Blind
Man (O TI®AOC). The introduction of the First
Ecumenical Council should be viewed as a sup-
plement to these scenes, because one of the Sun-
days of the Flowery Triodion was the Sunday of
the Fathers of the First Ecumenical Council. In
this way, a part of the year between The Passion
Weej and The Pentecost was presented, which
we see presented in the next scenes, Ascension of
Christ (I ANAATWHC TOY XPISTOY, fig. 13). The
last scene of this part was The Pentecost (I ATTA
ITENAIKOXTH), which completed it.

It is undoubtedly that the scenes in medallions
around the representation of the Christ Elkome-
nos were thought to remind of the very places of
their occurrence, which were visited by pilgrims.
However, the link with the places they are sup-
posed to represent is weak (except in the scene of
Ascension of Christ). In our opinion, these scenes
should be viewed as related to the liturgical pur-
pose of the representation of Christ Elkomenos,
but also as those that pointed out to the period
after Resurrection, to The Ascension and The
Pentecost.

On the whole, the logic behind this proskynetari-
on was topographic. Apart from the central object
of pilgrimage, The church of Holy Sepulcher in
Jerusalem, a number of other places were repre-
sented, just by a small part marked by the rep-
resentations objects that were to be found there,
and mainly with a scene that was related to them.
Some of these places stand out with clearly de-
veloped cults, popular devotions connected with
them. On the other hand, there were certain rep-
resentations that could not be connected to any
specific place at all. It remains to be concluded
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that they are intended primarily to emphasize
the holiday of a particular saint. Some represen-
tations clearly pointed out thaumaturgical icons
popular in Palestine in late 18th and early 19™
Century. The representations in medallions were
characterized by relative weak connection with
the places of worship and pilgrimage, and more
poinedt to the liturgical celebration of the larger
representations to which they were related. A
specific problem are the notions that were not re-
lated to the sacral topography of Palestine: Sinai,
Athos, and The Life-giving Font. Their presence
can be explained by a large number of editions
and copies of copperplate engravings with repre-
sentations of these sacred places.

Proskynetarion of HadZi-Petar from Pirot from
year 1818-1819 was a typical example of one type
of these icons, which were painted in the period
roughly from about 1790 to after 1830. Such was
the icon from the National Museum in Warsaw
(Laptas 2004), from the Hernen Castle in the
Netherlands (v. Aalst, Immerzeel 2005), icon
sold at Christie’s in the 2006 (Christie’s 2006,
lot. 287). The layout of composition on these
icons was mostly as one described on this icon.
Stylistically, this type of proskynetaria represents
a fusion of diverse elements. On the one hand,
there were elements of the classic iconography
originating even from Byzantine art: linear mod-
eling of the faces and volume of figures, simpli-
fied representation of space without a linear per-
spective, predilection for the use of gold, as well
as inevitable inscriptions. The second element
was the Baroque style, present primarily in or-
namentation. But Baroque should also be seen
on scenes whose anthivola were highly refined
representations from Western European engrav-

ings and illustrated Bibles. The above mentioned
lighter blue tones on the background of individual
scenes can be considered an element of Baroque
that most likely comes to Palestine via Russia or
the Balkans. These elements formed a specific
Syrian-Palestinian style of the icon-painting. This
style was characterised above all by the above-
mentioned much used red-orange color. In the
iconography of this region it is used roughly from
the beginning / mid-17t to the middle of the 19%
Century (Ilataumkuii 1998). Its qualities should
include the extraordinary iconographic narra-
tivennes, which is especially evident in prosky-
netaria. The proskynetaria of this group, and also
this one, were in every sense typical representa-
tives of the Syrian-Palestinian icon-painting of
the last decade of the 18" and first decades of the
19™ Century.

The icon was supplied with a large and heavy dec-
orative frame in gold color. The time of its instal-
lation was not known, but it can be assumed that
the frame was added by the heirs of the pilgrim to
honor the pilgrimage of the ancestor. Although it
is in a certain mismatch with the icon, this frame
should not be seen as a foreign body, but rather
as a testimony of the respect of pilgrimage and
proskynetarion in one family for several genera-
tions.

Either way, the painted proskynetarion in a pri-
vate collection is one of these icons whose study
is in the beginning. The issues that these icons set
out are numerous, and here we tried to answer
only some of them. We hope that the future re-
search will shed more light on these somewhat
blunt and clumsy, yet enigmatic and still not
widely known paintings.
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Un proschinitar dintr-o colectie particulara

Cuvinte-cheie: proschinitar, Ierusalim, pelerinaj, Mormantul Domnului, imagine.

Rezumat: Articolul este consacrat unui proschinitar ce face parte dintr-o colectie privata. El reprezinta icoanele
aduse de pelerini din Locurile Sfinte, datate de la inceputul secolelor XVII-XX. Astfel de icoane s-au pastrat atat
pe teritoriul Romaniei, cat si pe teritoriul Republicii Moldova. Icoana prezentati dateazd din perioada 1818-1819,
apartinand pelerinului Petaru din Pirot, un oras din sudul Serbiei. In icoani se distinge gama cromatici intensi,
cu prevalarea nuantelor albastra si rosie, precum si auriul abundent. Conceputi initial ca o icoana cu canaturi,
aceasta reprezinti in partea centrald Biserica Sfantului Mormant din Ierusalim. in imagine se atestd si detalii
din arhitectura templului restaurat dupa incendiul din anul 1808. Tot in acest spatiu sunt reprezentate mai multe
scene biblice si cele de legendd, care s-au desfisurat conform traditiei in Locurile Sfinte. In partea stangi a pros-
chinitarului este reprezentatd Maica Domnului Milostiva din Kykkos, iar in dreapta — Hristos in lanturi (Hristos
Elkomenos), ambele imagini fiind foarte populare in Palestina la inceputul secolului al XIX-lea. Aceste reprezentiri
sunt incadrate de scene mici ce evoci cultul Niscitoarei de Dumnezeu si al Pruncului. In ansamblu, icoana poate
fi caracterizata drept o imagine topografici a Locurilor Sfinte. Icoana reprezinta un model tipic al iconografiei siro-
palestiniene din acea perioadd, imbinand elementele artei occidentale si ale picturii de icoane orientale. Multitudi-
nea acestor icoane nu le-a adus 1nsa si faima cuvenita, cercetarea lor fiind abia la inceput de cale.

Lista ilustratiilor:

1. Proschinitarul din Ierusalim, 1818-1819.

2. Inscriptie din anul 1819 din cartusul de pe fata icoanei.

3. Inscriptii din anii 1818 si 1819 din cartusul de pe spatele icoanei.
4. Biserica Sfantului Mormant din Ierusalim.

5. Ispitirea lui Hristos; Botezul Domnului; Manastirea Sf. Sava cel Sfintit.
6. Ciclul despre lemnul Sfintei Cruci.

7. Dumnezeu desparte ziua de noapte.

8. Sf. Maria Egipteanca rugandu-se Maicii Domnului.

9. Maica Domnului Milostiva din Kykkos.

10. Buna Vestire de langa Fantana din Nazaret.

11. Hristos 1n lanturi (Hristos Elkomenos).

12. Sfantul munte Sinai.

13. Iniltarea Domnului.
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HpOCKI/IHETapI/IOH M3 YaCTHOM KOJ/VICKITU A

Knarouesvle crosa: mpocKuHETapuoH, Mepycaaum, maJioMHu4uecTBoO, I'po6 [ocriofens, n3obpaskeHue.

Pestome: CtaThs NMOCBAIIEHA IPOCKUHETAPHOHY U3 YACTHOHM KOoJUTeKIuU. OH OTHOCHUTCA K THUILy UKOH, KOTODBIE
[IPUBO3WJINCH NAJIOMHUKaMU K3 CATod 3emiu. OHH gaTtupylorcesa HayaaoMm XVII — nagasiom XX BekoB. Takue
HKOHBI COXPAHUJIUCh KaK Ha TeppUTOpuU PyMbIHUY, Tak U Ha Tepputopuu Pecriy6iuku Mosiosa. JlaHHasA HKOHA
natupoBaHa 1818-1819 IT., oHa IpUHAJIEKaIa TaIOMHUKY Ilertapy u3 ITupoTta, roposia Ha tore Cepbuu. MkoHa
OTJIMYAEeTCsA HACHIIEHHOCTHIO IIBETOB, B OCHOBHOM CHHETO U KPACHOTO, a TaKKe OOMJIBHBIM HUCIIOJIb30BAHUEM 30-
Jstota. OH 6bU1a 33/fyMaHa KaK TpexJacTHaA. B IeHTpaIbHOM YacTH Ipe/iCTaB/IeHO OCHOBHOE H300paskeHne — Xpam
I'poba I'ocnoousa B Uepycanume. Ha n306pakeHUH IPUCYTCTBYIOT aDXUTEKTyPHBIE IETAIN, TOABUBIINECH B IIPO-
Ilecce BOCCTAHOBJIEHUS XpaMa IIocjie mokapa 1808 roja. /Ipyrue n3o6paskeHus B 9TOU Ke YaCTU MPEICTABIIIOT
oTHeNnbHbIE Oub.aelickue cobblmus 1 ne2eHobl, JeHCTBEe KOTOPBIX, II0 BEPOBAHUAM, IPOUCXOUIIO B CBATON 3eM-
Jie. B jieBOMi yacTH IpejicTaBiieHo u3obpakenue boxkueir Matepu « MutoctuBoii» KUKKCKOH, a B IpaBoi — Xpu-
croc B Bepurax (Xpucroc diakomenoc). O6e 3T UKOHBI ObLTH TIounTaeMbl B [lasectrHe B Hauasie XIX Beka. Mx
OKpY’KaIoT boJiee MeJIKue U300paskeHUs, CBA3AHHbIE ¢ KyJIbTOM Boropoauis! u MiasieHna. B neiom HKOHY MOX-
HO 0XapaKTEPU30BaTh Kak Tonorpaduyeckoe nzobpaxkenue Csaroir 3emsin. OHA ABJIAETCA TUIIHYHBIM 00pa3oM
HUKOHOTpadUM CUPHUICKO-IIAJIECTHHCKOTO PETHOHA TOTO BpeMeHH, 00'beIMHUBIIEH YepTHI 3aI1a/IHOH KUBOIIUCH U
BOCTOYHOM MKOHONMCU. DTU UKOHBI MHOTOYMCJIEHHBI, HO He IIMPOKO U3BECTHBI, U UX TOJIBKO HAUUHAIOT U3y4aTh.

Cnucox uratocmpayuil:

1. epycayimMCKH# IPOCKUHETApHOH, 1818/1819 .

2. Hagnues 1819 T. B KapTyllle Ha JIULEBOH CTOPOHE.

3. Hagnmuicn 1818 1. 11 1819 T. B KapTy1iie Ha 0OpaTHOM CTOPOHE.
4. Xpam I'po6a F'ocriogns B Mepycaiume.

5. Uckymenne Xpucra; Kpemenue Xpucra; MoHacTeIps ¢B. CaBBbl OCBAIIIEHHOTO.
6. Iluxi o npese Kpecra I'ocriogus.

7. Bor oTAenAeT IeHb OT HOYU.

8. CB. Mapus Erunerckas monurcsa Marepu Boxueii.

9. boxxusa Mateps «MunoctuBas» Kukkekas.

10. BiarosemeHnue y kosoaua B Hazapere.

11. Xpucroc B Bepurax (Xpucroc jIKoOMeHOC).

12. Cearas ropa CuHaii.

13. Bosnecenue 'ocmiogHe.
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